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            AUTHOR’S NOTE

         
 
         Following the county boundary changes of 1974, Dorset was enlarged to incorporate a part of Hampshire, including Christchurch and Bournemouth. This book treats the new area as if it had always been a part of Dorset.

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         
 
         
            INTRODUCTION

         
 
         The Little Book of Dorset is just what the title implies – nothing pretentious, and certainly not claiming to be a comprehensive history or guide. It is a somewhat quirky collection of some of the things that make Dorset unique as a county – the ‘Wessex’ of Thomas Hardy’s vivid novels.
         
 
         Dorset has had a fascinating past, going back to Jurassic times. It has been the centre of many crucial moments of English history and it has had associations with a huge variety of people, from Alfred the Great to Lawrence of Arabia and Enid Blyton.
 
         Even in the twenty-first century Dorset remains the county of Tess of the D’Urbervilles,The Mayor of Casterbridge and Far From the Madding Crowd. It is the beautiful and somewhat melancholy world of Thomas Hardy, whose brooding presence is for ever to be seen in his memorable statue in Dorchester. Flowers still appear there on the anniversaries of his birth and death.
         
 
         But also, alongside this, the Dorset of the twenty-first century is the scene of the 2012 Olympics, the vibrant nightlife of Bournemouth, and the many tourist attractions such as Bovington Tank Museum, Monkey World and Poole’s arts centre, now called ‘Lighthouse’, where superb performances by the Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra can be heard.
 
         It is to be hoped that readers of The Little Book of Dorset will want to visit and revisit this beautiful county again and again.
         
 
         David Hilliam, 2010
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            PLACE-NAMES & PUBS

         
 
         No other English county has towns and villages with so many magically poetic place-names as Dorset. John Betjeman recognised this when he began one of his poems by simply listing some of them: ‘Rime Intrinsica, Fontmell Magna, Sturminster Newton and Melbury Bubb.’
 
         THE TOP TWENTY CURIOUS PLACE-NAMES IN DORSET
         
 
         There are over three hundred towns and villages in Dorset – many with names which are intriguing and puzzling. Here are the top twenty place-names in Dorset which cause most surprise.
 
         Affpuddle
         
 
         Like many Dorset villages, Affpuddle is named after the River Piddle. It means ‘the land by the River Piddle which belongs to Aeffa’ – Aeffa being one of the early Saxon settlers here. In some place-names, the Piddle is somewhat prudishly changed to ‘Puddle’ to avoid bringing a blush to sensitive cheeks!
 
         Bishop’s Caundle
         
 
         Several Dorset villages have ‘Caundle’ in their names: Purse Caundle, Stourton Caundle, and Caundle Marsh. They are situated near hills, and it is thought that ‘caundle’ was an ancient British word for a chain of hills. The ‘Bishop’ of Bishop’s Caundle is the Bishop of Salisbury, who owned the manor here. ‘Purse’ of Purse Caundle is probably derived from a family name.
         
 
         Blandford Forum
         
 
         ‘The market town where there is a ford at which gudgeon or blay (Old English blaege) are to be found.’ ‘Forum’ is the Latin word for a marketplace, and interestingly, in 1288 the town’s name is recorded as ‘Cheping Blaneford.’ – cēping being an Old English word for a market.  
         
 
         Broadwindsor
         
 
         The meaning of ‘Windsor’ in this name is the same as that of Windsor in Berkshire, from which the present royal family chose to be called. Literally, ‘windsor’ means ‘river-bank with a windlass’ – from windels, Old English for ‘windlass’, and ora, Latin for a river-bank. The original windlass must have been used for loading and unloading boats on the river. As for the ‘Broad’ part, this simply distinguishes the place from nearby Littlewindsor.
         
 
         Chaldon Herring 
         
 
         ‘Chaldon’ means ‘hill where calves graze’ – from two Old English words: cealf, ‘calf’, and dun, ‘a hill’. Like so many other doublebarrelled place-names, the second part (Herring) points to a family who owned an estate here, in this case, the Harangs. Their name is also found in Herrison, Langton Herring, and Winterborne Herringston.
         
 
         Child Okeford 
         
 
         There are two other Okefords in Dorset – Okeford Fitzpaine and Shilling Okeford (more usually called Shillingstone). ‘Okeford’ itself is self-explanatory – ‘ford by an oak-tree’ – but the ‘Child’ in Child Okeford is not so easily explained. The Old English word cild meant ‘son of a royal or noble family’ – but who is being referred to is not known. ‘Fitzpaine’ refers to a previous landowner. Also, ‘Shillingstone’ derives from a surname – it is Schelin’s ‘tun’ or hamlet.
         
 
         Corfe Mullen
         
 
         ‘Corfe’ comes from an Old English word meaning ‘cutting, or pass’ – that is, a cutting between two hills. The same name occurs, of course, in Corfe Castle. As for ‘Mullen’, this refers to the mill which used to be here. The French word Moulin, ‘mill’ – as in Moulin Rouge – springs to mind, though the can-can is rarely seen in Corfe Mullen.
         
 
         Fifehead Magdalen 
         
 
         ‘Fifehead’ is a slight distortion of ‘five hides’ – where a ‘hide’ meant the amount of land considered sufficient to support one family. In the Domesday Book this estate was called Fifhide. ‘Magdalen’ refers to the dedication of the church here, to St Mary Magdalen. 
         
 
         Gussage All Saints 
         
 
         ‘Gussage’ comes from two Old English words: gyse, ‘water suddenly breaking forth’, and sīc, meaning ‘water-course’. As in so many double-barrelled village names, ‘All Saints’ refers to the dedication of the church. There are also two other ‘Gussages’ in Dorset, both with church dedications: Gussage St Andrew and Gussage St Michael.
         
 
         Hazelbury Bryan 
         
 
         The ‘hazel wood’ on the estate of the Bryene family, who derived their name from Brienne in France.
 
         Lytchett Matravers 
         
 
         The first part of this name derives from the Celtic Lētocēto, which means ‘grey wood’ – and this is probably the same as the first part of the name of Lichfield. The second part derived from the family of Hugh Maltravers, who owned the manor in 1086, the year of the Domesday Book. The same family gave its name to Langton Matravers.
         
 
         Melbury Bubb 
         
 
         This village gains the second part of its name from the Bubbe family, who owned land and property here in the thirteenth century. William Bubbe held the manor here in 1212 – three years before the signing of Magna Carta. The first part, ‘Melbury’, means ‘multicoloured hill.’ The other Melburys in this area are Melbury Abbas, which belonged to the Abbess of Shafesbury; Melbury Osmund, which is probably named after ‘William the son of Osmund’ who is mentioned as having owned the manor here in the twelfth century; and Melbury Sampford, named after the Sampford family. Interestingly, in the Middle Ages Melbury Sampford had the name of ‘Melbury Turberville’ – after an earlier owner (with a name much more familiar to readers of Hardy!).
         
 
         Minterne Magna 
         
 
         Perhaps surprisingly, yet so obvious, the ‘Mint’ part of the name actually refers to the herb, mint. The name Minterne, therefore, means ‘the house where mint grows’, with the second part of Minterne deriving from the Old English word ærn, meaning ‘house’. As for ‘Magna’ this is the Latin word for ‘large’ and so distinguishes Minterne Magna from Minterne Parva (‘little’). 
         
 
         Old Harry
         
 
         No, not a village, but a very distinctive sea-stack of chalk, rising out of the sea just off the cliffs at Studland. ‘Old Harry’ was another name for the Devil. In 1896 another sea-stack, Old Harry’s Wife, collapsed into the sea.
 
         Piddletrenthide
         
 
         One of the many villages deriving their names from the River Piddle. This extraordinary name means ‘Estate on the River Piddle assessed at thirty hides’ – i.e. it could support thirty families (see Fifehead Magdalen earlier). The word trente is simply the French for ‘thirty’. Sometime during the Middle Ages this village was referred to as ‘Pidelthirtihide’ – which perhaps makes its meaning clearer.
 
         Ryme Intrinseca
         
 
         This is the name that John Betjeman used to begin his poem on Dorset – but oddly enough he misspelt it! The ‘Ryme’ part is simply the modern word ‘rim’, and means that the place is on the edge or border of a ridge or perhaps a county boundary. The word intrinseca is Latin, meaning that it is ‘within the bounds’ – as distinguished from its opposite, extrinseca. There used to be a manor called Ryme Extrinseca in Long Bredy, but this has disappeared.
 
         Sixpenny Handley
         
 
         A fascinating name, which is sometimes even seen as ‘6d Handley’! ‘Handley’ derives from two Old English words, hēah and lēah, meaning ‘high wood’ or ‘clearing’. The ‘Sixpenny’ part, which is more intriguing, means ‘hill of the Saxons’ deriving from an Old English word, Seaxe, and a Celtic word, penn, meaning ‘hill’.
 
         Toller Porcorum
         
 
         A wonderful name, meaning ‘Toller of the pigs’ – as opposed to Toller Fratrum, a nearby village, which means ‘Toller of the brothers’. Both porcorum and fratrum are Latin; Toller Porcorum got its name because of the herds of swine which were bred there, and Toller Fratrum gained its name from the fact that the manor used to belong to the Knights Hospitallers – who were ‘brothers’ in arms. As for ‘Toller’, this was once the name of the river which runs nearby. This is now renamed the River Hooke. Toller Porcorum was called Swyne Tolre in the Middle Ages. 
         
 
         Tolpuddle
         
 
         Another name coming from the River Piddle. The first part – ‘Tol’ – is interesting because it records the fact that a lady called Tola used to own the lands here. In fact this lady was the widow of Urc, a ‘housecarl’ or bodyguard of Edward the Confessor. Urc was probably a part of King Edward’s bodyguard. Tola generously gave all these lands to Abbotsbury Abbey a few years before the Norman invasion.
 
         Winterborne Came
         
 
         There are many ‘Winterbornes’ in Dorset, which are explained below, but the ‘Came’ part of this name is curious, because it is a corruption of Caen in Normandy. After the Norman conquest the manor here belonged to the abbey of St Stephen at Caen.
 
         WINTERBORNES
         
 
         There are two rivers in Dorset with the name Winterborne – which means a ‘stream flowing in winter’ – i.e. when there is more water to flow into them. The South Winterborne is a tributary of the River Frome, and the more northerly Winterborne is a tributary of the River Stour. On the South Winterborne river are many villages:
 
         
            Winterborne Abbas – ‘Abbas’ meaning ‘belonging to the Abbey (of Cerne)’.
            
 
            Winterborne Stapleton – ‘Steepleton’ meaning ‘village with a church steeple’ (only three medieval Dorset churches had steeples).
            
 
            Winterborne St Martin – named after the dedication of its church – an alternative name for this village is Martinstown.
            
 
            Winterborne Monkton – ‘Monkton’ meaning ‘village of the monks’ – because the place formerly belonged to a French priory.
            
 
            Winterborne Herringston – ‘Herringston’ named after the Harang family, as also in Chaldon Herring (see earlier reference).
            
 
            Winterborne Came – see above for an explanation of ‘Came’.
            

         
 
          
         There are even more Winterborne village names on the north Winterborne river:
 
         
            Winterborne Houghton – ‘land on the Winterborne river owned by Hugh’ – who probably was Hugh de Boscherbert, who owned property here at the time of the Domesday Book.
            
 
            Winterborne Stickland – ‘Stickland’ meaning ‘with a steep lane’.
            
 
            Winterborne Clenston – ‘Clenston’ referring to the Clench family, who owned property here in the Middle Ages.
            
 
            Winterborne Whitechurch – ‘Whitechurch’ is fairly self-explanatory, but it may be that it referred to the fact that the church was built of stone rather than wood.
            
 
            Winterborne Kingston – ‘Kingston’ meaning ‘farm or estate belonging to the King’ – equivalent to ‘Regis’ as found in other names.
            
 
            Winterborne Muston – ‘Muston’ meaning ‘farm or estate belonging to the de Musters family’ who owned property here.
            
 
            Winterborne Tomson – ‘farm or estate belonging to someone called Thomas’, but in fact no one knows who this Thomas was. This ‘Winterborne’ consists merely of a church, a farm, and a seventeenth-century cottage.
            

         
 
         TARRANTS
         
 
         Similar to the Winterbourne rivers, the River Tarrant gives rise to eight village names along its length. The name ‘Tarrant’ is Celtic, and possibly meant ‘the trespasser’ because of its habit of flooding and ‘trespassing’ on the fields beside it.
         
 
         
            Tarrant Crawford – ‘Crawford’ meaning ‘a ford where there
 are crows’. 
            
 
            Tarrant Gunville – ‘Gunville’ refers to the Gundeville family who owned property here in the Middle Ages.
            
 
            Tarrant Hinton – ‘Hinton’ meaning ‘town or place belonging to monks or nuns’ from the Old English word hiwan. Here, the nuns referred to were those of Shaftesbury Abbey, who owned the manor here.
            
 
            Tarrant Keynston – ‘Keynston’ refers to the Cahaignes family, who owned property here in the Middle Ages.
            
 
            Tarrant Launceston – ‘Launceston’ derives from the name of an individual or family, but it is not clear who they were.
            
 
            Tarrant Monkton – ‘Estate belong to the monks’ – in this case the manor belonged to the priory of Cranborne and the abbey of Tewkesbury.
            
 
            Tarrant Rawston – ‘Rawston’ probably means ‘Ralph’s farm or estate’.
            
 
            Tarrant Rushton – ‘Rushton’ meaning ‘land or estate held by the de Rusceaus family’, who owned it in the Middle Ages.
            

         
 
         MORE DORSET PLACE-NAMES
         
 
         Shitterton
         
 
         Found in Bere Regis, it is now called Sitterton on the current Ordnance Survey map – presumably for the same reason that Piddle has been bowdlerised into Puddle. The meaning of the original ‘Shitterton’ was that it was ‘a farm at the stream used as a sewer’. (See Dorset’s Naughty Names, p. 8.)
 
         St Aldhelm’s Head 
         
 
         Some old maps and books call this Dorset headland between Swanage and Weymouth ‘St Alban’s Head’ – and indeed the Ordnance Survey Map gives both names. But as all Dorset folk know, St Aldhelm was Sherborne’s first bishop, so much loved and respected that everyone knew him as a saint. St Alban had nothing at all to do with Dorset! 
         
 
         Brandy Bay 
         
 
         Looking towards St Aldhelm’s Head, Brandy Bay is a shameless reminder that smugglers used it for landing their illegal barrels.
 
         God’s Blessing Lane 
         
 
         This curious name can be found at Colehill, north-west of Wimborne. The story behind it is that Oliver Cromwell billeted his troops near here before the battle for Corfe Castle. His men were ‘blessed’ here, to ensure victory.

         DORSET’ S NAUGHTY NAMES
         
 
         Shitterton 
         
 
         Originally named for its drains, Shitterton was coyly renamed Sitterton in the Victorian age. However, in our more robust twenty-first century it has now proudly reasserted its older, more earthy, version – Shitterton. Predictably, Shitterton’s wooden signboards were constantly being stolen by thieves with a lavatorial sense of humour. Shitterton villagers therefore responded by clubbing together, each paying £20 to purchase a large, engraved block of Purbeck stone weighing more than a ton and which is now firmly concreted into the ground.
 
         
            [image: ]
            

         
 
         
         
 
         Scratchy Bottom
         
 
         A cliff-top valley between Durdle Door and Swyre Head, its odd name refers to the fact that is it a rough hollow. Famously, it was the scene of the opening of the 1967 film Far from the Madding Crowd, when Gabriel Oak’s sheep were driven over the cliff-edge by his sheepdog.
         
 
         Burnt Bottom  
         
 
         Thomas Hardy gave it the more dignified name of Norcombe. It is near Hooke.
 
         Happy Bottom  
         
 
         A much more comfortable-sounding name, it is near Corfe Mullen.
 
         Aunt Mary’s Bottom  
         
 
         A Site of Special Scientific Interest, being a valley mire lying on the northern flank of Rampisham Hill. Sadly, no one now knows who Aunt Mary was.
 
         Shaggs  
         
 
         A village near Bovington. Prince Harry, while stationed at the army camp in Bovington, rented a nearby cottage at Shaggs, allegedly sharing it with his girlfriend. Not surprisingly, his fellow-officers were much amused.
 
         Pulham Down  
         
 
         Near Sherborne, it is believed by some to have a double-entendre, though this may well elude those of a pure mind.
 
         Sandy Balls  
         
 
         Alas, it cannot be mentioned here as it is just over the border in Hampshire. It is a popular holiday centre near Fordingbridge.
 
         SOME INTERESTING PUBS
         
 
         The Bottle Inn, Marshwood 
         
 
         Nowadays ‘The Bottle’ is famous for hosting the Annual World Nettle-Eating Championship (see page 95) but it has existed since 1760 at least, and gains its name from being the first inn locally to sell beer by the bottle. 
         
 
         The building in the car park has been used as a school and then as a shop – selling, as the pub-owner boasted, ‘everything from a mousetrap to a car’. When challenged, he obligingly sold the enquirer a mousetrap and a Rover 100.
 
         The Damory Oak, Blandford
         
 
         Just on the outskirts of Blandford, the Damory Oak pub is named after a famous tree that grew nearby. It was probably the biggest oak tree ever to grow in England. The statistics of this gigantic oak are staggering: it measured no less than 68ft round (20.72m) at ground level, and it was 23ft (7m) in diameter. It was reckoned to have been at its best in the fourteenth century, but by the seventeenth century it had become so hollow that twenty men could get inside the cavity, which measured 15ft wide (4.72m). At one time, an old man sold ale in it. Then, after the great fire of Blandford in 1731, two homeless families lived for a while inside the hollow trunk.
 
         Sadly, the tree was sold in 1755 for £14, and was chopped up for firewood. The Damory Oak pub is the only memorial to this incredible tree. ‘Damory’ derives from the name of the D’Amorie family, who were given lands here by William the Conqueror – and Damorys still live in Dorset almost 1,000 years later.
 
         The Quiet Woman, Halstock
         
 
         For centuries this was a well-known coaching inn or pub, but it is now an excellent guest-house named Quiet Woman House, offering top-quality bed and breakfast accommodation. The ‘Quiet Woman’ was St Juthwara, or Judith, a medieval saint who had been beheaded – hence her quietness! (See page 156 for her story.)
 
         The Smith’s Arms, Godmanstone
         
 
         Dorset boasts that this is the smallest pub in England. At one time it was a blacksmith’s, and the story goes that King Charles II (reigned 1660–85) while visiting the area, drew up there to have one of his horses shod.
 
         He asked for a glass of ale, and when the blacksmith told the king he had no licence, Charles immediately granted him one. It’s a curious and picturesque pub, very tiny, with a conical-shaped thatched roof.  
         
 
         The Mermaid Inn, Portland
         
 
         Local legend tells how a mermaid was washed ashore near here in the eighteenth century – and this is how the pub got its name. There are many stories of weird creatures coming out of the sea here. The sixteenth-century historian Raphael Holinshed described one such oddity:
 
         
            ‘In the moneth of November 1457, in the Ile of Portland not far from the town of Weymouth was seen a cocke coming out of the sea having a great creast upon its head and a red beard and legs half a yard long: he stood on the water and crowed foure times and everie time he turned him about and beckened with his head toward the north the south and the west, and was of colour like a fesant and when he had crowed three times he vanished awaie.’

         
 
         The King’s Arms, Dorchester
         
 
         A splendid old coaching inn situated in High East Street, built in about 1720. King George III would change horses here on the way to his holidays in Weymouth. Famous people who have stayed here include Princess (later Queen) Victoria, Edward VII (incognito), Lord Nelson, Augustus John and the Russian ballerina Pavlova.
 
         For readers of Hardy’s novels, this is the inn where Michael Henchard did his business in The Mayor of Casterbridge. Hardy himself knew this pub well, and described it exactly, not even changing its name:
         
 
         
            The building … was the chief hotel in Casterbridge – namely, the King’s Arms. A spacious bow-window projected into the street over the main portico, and from the open sashes came the babble of voices, the jingle of glasses, and the drawing of corks.
 
            The Mayor of Casterbridge, Chapter V.
            

         
 
         The Fox, Ansty
         
 
         Not for nothing did Egon Ronay choose The Fox at Ansty as his first Pub of the Year in 1980 – and it has remained one of his favourites ever since. It was once the imposing residence of the Woodhouse family, famous for their brewing, and now its reputation for excellent food and drink draws countless ‘foodies’ from far and wide. Most notable, in every nook and cranny, is its unique and fascinating collection of Toby mugs – over 800 of them at the last count.
         
 
         The Black Dog, Weymouth 
         
 
         This pub got its name because the master of a Newfoundland trading vessel gave the landlord a black dog from that country – a black Labrador. It was the first of the breed to be introduced into England.
 
         The Antelope, Dorchester 
         
 
         Sadly, this is no longer a pub, but a part of a tiny, attractive shopping mall, and the Oak Room – a part of the original old Antelope Inn – is now a busy restaurant. But the Oak Room has a hugely important past, because it was there, in 1685, that Judge Jeffreys condemned 300 men to death or transportation in the ‘Bloody Assizes’ for taking part in the Monmouth rebellion.
 
         St Peter’s Finger, Lytchett Minster 
         
 
         This is the only pub in the entire country with this strange name. But the ‘finger’ is really a corruption of the Latin ad vincula, meaning ‘in chains’. St Peter was often shown in medieval paintings as a prisoner.
 
         Opposite this pub in the early nineteenth century was an important depot for the button-makers to bring their products to sell to the Case Brothers, whose grandfather had originally set up this industry in Dorset.
 
         ARISTOCRATIC DORSET PUB NAMES
         
 
         Several pubs in Dorset are named after well-known landowning families of the county: The Drax Arms in Bere Regis has the splendid coat of arms of the Drax family of Charborough Park for its inn sign. The Bankes Armes Country Inn at Studland and The Bankes Armes Hotel at Corfe Castle take their name from the owners of Kingston Lacy. The Weld Arms at Lulworth refers to the famous family who own Lulworth Castle. Other aristocratic pubs are The Rivers Arms at Cheselbourne, Dorchester, the picturesque Hambro Arms at Milton Abbas, and The Digby Tap in Sherborne. 
         
 
         FARMS AND FIELDS
         
 
         In the eighteenth century, a wealthy and eccentric landowner named Thomas Hollis bought a large estate in Halstock and Corscombe. He was a passionate defender of liberty and free-thinking and set about renaming the farms on his newly purchased land, calling them after his heroes and even after abstract ideas.
 
         Not only was there a Liberty Farm, but also farms called Neville, Locke, Sydney and Marvell. Hollis had close links with America, where he had made many bequests to universities, especially Harvard, where today there is a Hollis Hall.
 
         Thanks to Thomas Hollis there are farms and fields in this part of Dorset which have American names such as Boston and Massachusetts. More oddly, there are fields named Toleration, Constitution, Education, Lay-preacher, Government, Understanding, Comprehension and Reasonableness.
 
         There was even a Stuart Coppice – named for the grim reason that the hazel trees there had to be frequently beheaded!
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            BONES & BURIALS

         
 
         The churches and churchyards of Dorset contain some surprises – and there are some odd tales to tell.
 
         THE CURIOUS CASE OF THE CARNIVOROUS CAT
         
 
         When Thomas Hardy died in 1928, his reputation as a writer was so great that nothing short of a burial in Westminster Abbey was deemed appropriate. Unfortunately, Hardy himself wanted to be buried in Stinsford, beside the Dorset church where he had worshipped since childhood. A somewhat gruesome compromise was agreed – his body would go to the abbey, but his heart would be buried in Stinsford.
 
         Going about this odd business, the local doctor went to Max Gate to cut out Hardy’s heart, and then left it on the kitchen table, wrapped up in a cloth. Shortly afterwards, when the undertaker arrived to take possession of the 87-year-old heart, he was appalled to find that it had disappeared, and a cat was nearby, obviously having just enjoyed an unusual meal.
 
         
            [image: ]
            

         
 
          
         According to credible sources, the undertaker acted swiftly, with commendable presence of mind. He killed the cat and took it away with – presumably – Hardy’s heart inside it. An amateur photograph of Hardy’s funeral at Stinsford shows the clergyman bearing Hardy’s heart in a wooden casket, rather larger than would be necessary to hold a heart, but of a convenient size to hold a cat.
 
         KINGLY BONES KEPT IN A CUTLERY BOX
         
 
         The bones of the Saxon fifteen-year-old king Edward (reigned 975–8) were buried in Shaftesbury Abbey, but the nuns there hid them at the time of the Dissolution of the Monasteries by Henry VIII.
 
         The bones were then completely lost for almost 400 years. When they were finally rediscovered, they became the subject of a legal tussle between two brothers over who owned them. While the lawyers wrangled, King Edward’s bones were kept in a cutlery box in the vaults of the Midland Bank (now the HSBC) in Woking, Surrey.
 
         Eventually, King Edward’s bones were given to a sect of the Russian Orthodox Church, and are now venerated by monks in a special shrine in Brookwood Cemetery, also in Surrey.
 
         BONES MOVED FROM ST PANCRAS TO BOURNEMOUTH
         
 
         Visitors to Bournemouth may be surprised to find that the churchyard of St Peter’s, in the centre of the town, has the graves of William Godwin (1756–1836), his wife Mary Wollstonecraft Godwin (1759–97), together with their daughter Mary Wollstonecraft Shelley (1797–1851), the author of Frankenstein.
         
 
         Mary Wollstonecraft was a champion of the rights of women, and her book A Vindication of the Rights of Woman caused consternation by advocating the equality of men and women. Horace Walpole called her a ‘hyena in petticoats’ for her views.
         
 
         Mary Shelley had asked to be buried near her parents, who had been buried at Old St Pancras church in London. Accordingly, the bones of the Godwins were brought to Bournemouth by Mary Shelley’s son, who had settled there with his mother.
 
         A POET’S HEART
         
 
         The poet Shelley was drowned off the coast of Italy in 1822, just a month before his thirtieth birthday. His body was cremated on the sea-shore, but his heart was snatched from the fire and was kept by his wife, Mary, for the rest of her life.
 
         After her death it was found among her belongings wrapped up in a sheet of Shelley’s poem ‘Adonais’. Shelley’s heart was later buried with their son, Sir Percy Florence Shelley, who lived in Boscombe and was buried with his mother’s remains in St Peter’s churchyard, Bournemouth. There is a fine memorial to the poet in Christchurch Priory.
 
         PAROCHIAL NIMBYISM
         
 
         ‘Lawrence of Arabia’ – Thomas Edward Lawrence, aka Aircraftman John Hume Ross and aka Private Thomas Edward Shaw – was killed in a motorbike accident riding at speed in a Dorset lane. He is buried in the churchyard at Moreton, near his cottage at Clouds Hill.
         
 
         His cottage is in the parish of Turners Puddle. However, neither the parish priest at Moreton nor the priest at Turners Puddle wanted his memorial – so the Bishop of Salisbury suggested that his life-size effigy should be placed in St Martin’s church at Wareham, where it is now to be seen. In the true sense, this is a ‘cenotaph’ – in other words, an empty tomb. 
         
 
         DORSET’S ROLE IN THE ARRIVAL OF THE BLACK DEATH
         
 
         The Black Death of 1348–9 resulted in the extermination of about one-third of the entire population of England. It’s difficult to pin down an exact figure, but it’s likely that the death-toll throughout the country was around one and a half million people – and it all started in Dorset, or more precisely Melcombe Regis, now a part of Weymouth.
 
         Melcombe Regis was a busy and important port during the Middle Ages, where ships were constantly coming and going to France. It so happened that in July of 1348 a sailor or a passenger from the continent brought the dreaded bubonic plague to England. A medieval chronicler describes the sinister event: ‘In this year 1348, in Melcombe, in the country of Dorset, a little before the Feast of St John the Baptist, two ships, one of them from Bristol, came alongside. One of the sailors had brought with him from Gascony the seeds of the terrible pestilence and, through him, the men of that town of Melcombe were the first in England to be infected.’
 
         SIX INTERESTING PEOPLE BURIED IN DORSET
         
 
         Mary Anning (1799–1847) 
         
 
         While still a twelve-year-old schoolgirl, Mary Anning discovered the first ichthyosaurus, and she went on to find many other dinosaur remains on Dorset’s Jurassic Coast. Dinosaurs were unknown until Mary Anning’s persistent search for the bones which are still so plentiful along Dorset’s beaches. She virtually ‘invented’ dinosaurs. Mary Anning is buried at St Michael’s Church, Lyme Regis, where there is a memorial window to her. Her father taught her to use a chisel to prise bones out of the cliffs.
 
         Sir Robin Day (1923–2000) 
         
 
         Robin Day’s modest tombstone can be found in the churchyard of St Candida and the Holy Cross at Whitchurch Canonicorum. Those who remember the television of the 1960s and ’70s will instantly recall his genially forensic interviewing technique. Always polite, wearing a bow-tie, he pioneered the aggressive, no-nonsense questioning of politicians and public figures we take for granted nowadays with exponents such as John Humphrys and Jeremy Paxman. He was a passionate advocate of televising parliament – indeed, perhaps parliament on TV is his most lasting memorial. With wry humour, his tombstone reads: In loving memory of SIR ROBIN DAY, THE GRAND INQUISITOR. 
         
 
         Cecil Day-Lewis (1904–72) 
         
 
         Visitors to Stinsford church, to see Thomas Hardy’s grave in the churchyard there, may well be surprised to see the gravestone of another poet – Cecil Day-Lewis – just a few yards away from that of Hardy. Day-Lewis, who was appointed Poet Laureate in 1968 in succession to John Masefield, was such a fervent admirer of Hardy’s poetry that he asked to be buried near him. The inscription on his gravestone reads:
 
         
            
               Shall I be gone long?
 
               For ever and a day
 
               To whom there belong?
 
               Ask the stone to say
 
               Ask my song

            

         
 
         James Hammett (1811–91)
 
         The story of the Tolpuddle Martyrs is told elsewhere in this book. When these Dorset labourers returned to England after their terrible experiences in Australia, they all sought their fortunes elsewhere in the world, except James Hammett. He stayed behind in Tolpuddle, and is the only member of the group to be buried in England. Hammett is buried in the churchyard of St John the Evangelist in Tolpuddle. The inscription on his gravestone, which was carved by Eric Gill, reads:
 
         
            
               TOLPUDDLE MARTYR
 
               PIONEER OF TRADES
 
               UNIONISM. CHAMPION
 
               OF FREEDOM

            

         
 
         Richard Poore (d. 1237)
 
         Unless you know Salisbury well, you are unlikely to know who Richard Poore was, but he was arguably the most important Bishop of Salisbury in all its history, for he designed and built the city of New Sarum completely from scratch in 1220, taking his clergy and all his flock down from the ancient hill fort of Old Sarum to build a new cathedral and a newly designed city in the valley below – the Salisbury we know today. After his work in Salisbury he became an important Bishop of Durham, where he added new features to the great cathedral there. Then, on retirement, he came to be buried in the little Dorset village where he was born – in the little church of St Mary’s in Tarrant Crawford.
         
 
         Alfred Russel Wallace (1823–1913)
 
         Alfred Wallace is famous for his work on evolution and his researches were carried on at the very same time that Charles Darwin was preparing his monumental book, On the Origin of Species. It was one of the great coincidences of history, and when Darwin realised that Wallace was about to publish his findings, he quickly decided to bring out his own book first – in November 1859. Alfred Wallace is buried in the cemetery at Broadstone, between Bournemouth and Poole.
         
 
         Sir Francis Edward Younghusband (1863–1942)
 
         Francis Younghusband led an amazing life as an explorer in Asia, crossing the Gobi Desert and travelling in India and Tibet at a time when these regions were virtually unknown. He was also a mystic, and has been called a ‘premature hippy’ – believing in cosmic rays, extra-terrestrial beings and free love. He was elected President of the Royal Geographical Society, and did much to encourage climbers to tackle Mount Everest. One of his domestic servants was Gladys Aylward, who became a missionary in China, and whose life was portrayed by Ingrid Bergman in The Inn of the Sixth Happiness. Francis Younghusband is buried in the parish churchyard at Lytchett Minster.
         
 
         The ashes of H.G.Wells (1866–1946) were cast into the sea near Old Harry Rocks.
         
 
         The ashes of Dr Marie Stopes (1880–1958), pioneer of family planning among other exploits, were cast into the sea off Portland Bill.
         
 
         SOME DORSET EPITAPHS
         
 
         In the churchyard of St Gregory’s, Marnhull, is an epitaph of comfort to smokers. It is in memory of John Warren, parish clerk, and his wife. John died aged 81 in 1698. 
         
 
         
            
               Here under this stone
 
               lie Ruth and Old John,
 
               who smoked all his life,
 
               and so did his wife.
 
               And now there’s no doubt
 
               but their pipes are both out.
 
               Be it said without joke,
 
               that life is but smoke;
 
               Tho’ you live to fourscore,
 
               ’Tis a whiff, and no more

            

         
 
         In St Martin’s, Lillington, on a gravestone on the floor at the entrance to the aisle which once belonged to the Cole family, is this excruciating epitaph punning on the name Cole:
 
         
            
               Reader, you have within this grave,
 
               a COLE rak’d up in dust;
 
               His courteous fate saw it was late
 
               And that to bed he must;
 
               So all was swept up to be kept,
 
               Alive until the day
 
               The trump should blow it up and show
 
               The Cole but sleeping lay.
 
               Then do not doubt, the COLE’S not out,
 
               Tho’ it in ashes lies;
 
               The little spark, now in the dark,
 
               Will like the Phoenix rise

            

         
 
         In the church of St John the Baptist in Buckhorn Weston is a curious memorial stone in the chancel to a former rector who apparently had a curious hobby.
 
         
            
               John Sampson, Rector, here doth rest in Christ
 
               Divine, physician, anagrammatist,
 
               He was baptised May 12, 1626
 
               He died June 18, 1715, aged 90 years
 
               Buried June 22, 1715

            

         
 
         In the churchyard of St Nicholas, Worth Matravers, is a headstone to a little-known pioneer who successfully experimented with vaccination well before Edward Jenner, who has gained all the fame, credit, and a special medal from Napoleon Bonaparte. 
         
 
         
            
               Sacred to the memory of BENJAMIN JESTY
 
               of Downshay, who departed this life April
 
               16th, 1816, aged 80 years. He was born at
               
 
               Yetminster in this county, and was an
 
               upright, honest man; particularly noted for
 
               having been the first person (known) that
 
               introduced the cow-pox by inoculation, and
 
               who from his strength of mind made the
 
               experiment from the cow on his wife and
 
               two sons in the year 1774.

            

         
 
         In the north aisle of St Michael’s, Stinsford, the church in which Thomas Hardy attended for many years, is a memorial containing an interesting and curious name. Here is the first part of it:
 
         
            
               Near this place are interred
 
               AUDLEY GREY, esq and MARGARET his wife,
 
               He was the second son of Angel Grey,
 
               of Kingston Marleward and Bridport
 
               in the county, esq.

            

         
 
         The interesting name in question is ‘Angel’ grey. Anyone who has read Tess of the D’Urbervilles will instantly remember Angel Clare – a name so unusual that one critical reviewer of Tess complained that for a man to be called ‘Angel’ was quite ridiculous.
         
 
         MRS PERKINS ORDERS HER COFFIN TO HAVE A HINGED LID
         
 
         Close to Christchurch Priory, just beyond the east end, in the grounds beside the river walk, is an astonishingly puzzling building. It intrigues those who walk by, as there is no indication as to what it is.
 
         In fact it is a mausoleum which once held the body of a Mrs Perkins, a local lady who died in 1783. She had been terrified of being buried alive, so she gave strict instructions that her coffin should have a hinged lid. She wanted to be able to push it open if she suddenly woke up after her funeral. She also ordered that she should lie in a building with a special lock to its door that could only be opened from the inside. 
         
 
         Imagining every awkward possibility, she even stipulated that the building should be near the school which used St Michael’s Loft in the Priory Church – guessing that the kids there would hear her shouts if ever she should get out of the coffin but be unable to get out of the building!
 
         She died twenty years before her husband, and when eventually he died, her body was taken to be buried with his in the family vault. The mausoleum was then taken down and re-erected in its present position. It’s now empty – but there are speculations that it may have been used by smugglers to hide their illegal contraband.
 
         AN AIRMAN’S GRAVE WITH AN AEROPLANE-SHAPED GARDEN
         
 
         On a hilltop just to the south of Beaminster is the ‘Airman’s Grave’ – the unusual burial-place of Lt William Rhodes-Moorhouse, who was killed in action in 1915 – and who was the first airman ever to be awarded the VC.
 
         He was wounded on a bombing raid over France, but just managed to get back to his base at Merville. Sadly, he died the next day, and his body was brought back to Dorset where he lived in the beautiful Tudor manor house of Parnham.
 
         His grave is on the spot where he had intended to build a summer-house from which to enjoy the beautiful panoramic views. To commemorate his tragic death, there is a garden shaped like an aeroplane, which is still planted annually with forget-me-nots.
 
         THE CARPENTER’S COFFIN
         
 
         Thomas Hardy loved a tale with a macabre twist, and went to the trouble of verifying this one told to him by a servant when he lived at Wimborne. It was about a carpenter who was of very small stature. It happened that this carpenter was making a coffin, and unfortunately he had just discovered that he had made it too short. An onlooker standing by made a sneering joke: ‘Anybody would think you’d made it for yourself, John!’ The carpenter simply said ‘Ah – they would!’ and dropped down dead.  
         
 
         CRUMPLER’S COFFIN – CARVED ON AN OAK-TREE
         
 
         In a field near Lytchett Matravers is a tree known as the Bull Oak, on which is carved a coffin and the inscription ‘SC 1849’. This carving, made by the villagers of Lytchett, is in memory of Samuel Crumpler, a farmer who owned the field in the early nineteenth century. He was unpopular with the villagers who wanted to walk through one of his fields but couldn’t because he kept a ferocious bull in it, which obviously made access difficult.
 
         Samuel Crumpler pooh-poohed the idea that his bull was at all dangerous, and just to prove his point, he took a walk through the field himself. Naturally enough, the bull put its head down and charged. Poor Crumpler was gored to death just beside the oak tree – which instantly became known as the ‘Bull Oak’. ‘SC 1849’ is a poignant reminder of this fatal event.
 
         A SAINT BURIED IN HER OWN DORSET CHURCH
         
 
         Few people outside Dorset know about St Wite – otherwise variously spelt as White, Whyte, Witta, or even Candida – which is simply the Latin word for ‘white’. Nevertheless she is famous in the county, especially in the little Dorset village of Whitchurch Canonicorum, which is named after her – meaning ‘church of St Wite belonging to the canons.’ (The canons thus referred to were those of Salisbury cathedral, who once owned the manor house here.)
 
         The true identity of St Wite is a bit of a puzzle. According to one ancient legend – and there are several – she was a Breton princess living in the fifth century, who was brought over to England by the Saxons, only to be murdered by the Vikings. Extra fanciful tales speak of her being captured by pirates, having her hand chopped off and walking back to Brittany over the sea.
 
         Whoever she was, two facts are certain. The first is that she was believed to have the power of curing ailments. Indeed, there are three large holes in the side of her shrine here, to enable sick folk to put their hands close to her holy bones, hoping for a miraculous cure. The second is that when her tomb was opened up in 1900, the bones of a small woman aged about forty were discovered. 
         
 
         
            [image: ] 
               The shrine of the Saxon saint, St Wite. The three openings were used  to enable the faithful to get nearer to the saint and her healing  virtues.
               

               
            

         
 
         St Wite’s tomb has the distinction of being one of only two shrines still remaining in England and still containing their original saintly occupants – the other one being no less a personage than King Edward the Confessor, lying within his shrine in Westminster Abbey.
 
         Visitors to Whitchurch Canonicorum may enjoy some splendid carvings, including a small panel depicting a Viking ship high on the tower wall. And even now, it’s not unknown to find scraps of paper bearing hand-written prayers pushed into the holes at the side of St Wite’s shrine.
 
         NEITHER WITHIN NOR WITHOUT, AND NEITHER BELOW NOR ABOVE
         
 
         In Wimborne Minster is the famous and eccentric coffin of Anthony Ettricke, an eminent seventeenth-century lawyer. He was a local boy made good, for he attended Wimborne Grammar School and went to Trinity College, Oxford. He became Recorder and Magistrate of Poole and in this position he was responsible for committing the Duke of Monmouth for trial when the Duke was captured locally after the battle of Sedgemore.
 
         The story of the tomb is that he was so offended by the inhabitants of Wimborne that he swore he would not be buried within the Minster nor without it, and neither below nor above the ground. Some time later when his temper had cooled down, he became sorry for this outburst, for he wanted to be buried among his ancestors. So, with all of his lawyer’s cunning, he gained permission for his coffin to be placed in a recess in the Minster’s wall. It is there still – a large black coffin, raised in its specially made recess, and ‘neither within the church nor without it – neither below the ground nor above it’.
         
 
         Oddly, he firmly believed he would die in 1693, so he had this date inscribed on his coffin. However, he lived on for another ten years, dying in 1703. The changed date is easily seen, rather clumsily done, on the side of the coffin.
 
         A KING’S MEMORIAL – FIVE CENTURIES AFTER HIS DEATH
         
 
         In the Sanctuary of Wimborne Minster is a brass memorial to the Saxon King Ethelred I (reigned 866–71). It is a small engraving of the king, wearing a crown and holding a sceptre – astonishingly not made until about AD 1440. It measures 21½ inches by 13¼ inches (55cm x 34cm). It is unique in being the only royal brass in the country.
 
         
            [image: ] 
               Memorial brass to King Ethelred I. Ethelred was buried in Wimborne in   871, having died of wounds sustained while fighting the Danes. The   inscription has the wrong date!
               

            

         
 
         It is strange that such a memorial should be placed here so long after the death of Ethelred, who was killed in 871, fighting the Danes. Ethelred’s younger brother, Alfred, came to his funeral here in Wimborne, knowing that he was about to become king, as successor to his brother.
 
         This king must not be confused with Ethelred ‘the Unready’ who reigned 978–1016 and was in fact King Ethelred II. 
         
 
         A COMMUNIST DISSIDENT POKED WITH A POISONED UMBRELLA
         
 
         Perhaps memories are fading now, but a huge scandal erupted in 1978 when a Bulgarian writer and dissident, Georgi Markov, was poked in the leg by a poisoned umbrella as he was walking over Waterloo Bridge in London. The poison killed him, and to this day the assassin has never been found.
 
         Surprisingly, he is buried in the Dorset village of Whitchurch Canonicorum. In February 1991 the first post-communist President of Bulgaria, Zhelyu Zhelev, paid a state visit to Britain, and made a special trip to Dorset to lay a wreath on Markov’s grave. The tombstone in the churchyard of Whitchurch Canonicorum reads:
 
         
            IN MEMORY OF 
 Georgi Ivanov Markov 
 Novelist and Playwright 
 Most dearly beloved 
 By his Wife Annabel 
 His Daughter Sasha 
 Born Sofia 1.3.39 
 Died London 11.9.78 
 IN THE CAUSE OF FREEDOM
            

         
 
         A TRAGIC MASS BURIAL
         
 
         A memorial stone stands against the church wall at Wyke Regis recording the tragedy in 1815 when the East Indiaman Alexander was wrecked in the bay – 140 crew and passengers, including women and children, were given a mass burial here.
         
 
         A LIFE SPANNING THREE CENTURIES
         
 
         In the churchyard at Halstock is a tombstone in memory of John Pitt, who died aged 102, and whose life extended into three centuries. He was born on 16 January 1799 and died on 20 January 1901. He lived during the reigns of four monarchs – George III, George IV, William IV and Queen Victoria. If only he had lived just two more days, he would have also been alive in the reign of Edward VII!
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